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THE COURT:  Right. Good morning. So I have Mr. Sarros?

MR. SARROS:  Good morning, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Good morning. And Mr. Ouanounou? 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  That’s correct, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Yes. Good morning. I have all of the material that’s been filed or I think I have everything. Mr. Sarros, you’re relying on your most updated factum not the old one, or both? 

MR. SARROS:  I’m relying on the revised factum. 

THE COURT:  Okay. Very good. And Mr. Ouanounou, I have your factum. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  I also have the notices of application. There are a few of them. They’ve been amended a few times as well as the application record, the respondent’s application record. I have a brief of authorities of the applicant and I have a number of affidavits. Ted Fascia has sworn, it looks like three affidavits separate and apart from the application record. And then Mr. Scholyar, I think that’s....

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  Is that the right pronunciation?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  That’s correct, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Yes. There is one additional supplemental affidavit from him. And I also received undertakings and refusals chart, two briefs. Is that everything?

MR. SARROS:  Yes, Your Honour. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I believe so. 

MR. SARROS:  I do have a, a — one more affidavit from my client. It’s, it’s a very thin one and it just contains a response from the Region of Waterloo with respect to our freedom of information request. It came late so I wasn’t able to get it filed on time, but I have it here. Perhaps with leave of the court I can file it? It’s just a very slim....

THE COURT:  Any concerns about that?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I don’t have an objection, Your Honour, but I do have an affidavit, supplemental affidavit of Mr. Scholyar, which was served on my friend back in October, but he — it was after the holding of examinations. The — this affidavit, this is a compilation of all of the documents in the previous affidavit except two letters, which were received after I returned from the examination on the 27th of October. They’re two letters from the, the applicant solicitor which weren’t — but my friend has them. They were served upon him, so I mean I would have no objection to him filing his affidavit if he allows me to introduce this affidavit. 

MR. SARROS:  Your Honour, I would note I did not conduct any cross-examinations on my friend’s client. My friend conducted a cross-examination on my client. Subsequent to that he attempted to serve an affidavit. Indeed I did object to that and I maintain that any information in that affidavit was available on or prior to my client’s examination. If I’m incorrect about that my friend can shed some light on that, but....

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Except two letters, which were received after I returned from Kitchener on the 27th. 

THE COURT:  Received from who? 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  From, from the — my client’s real estate solicitor. 

THE COURT:  Right. And what are the dates of those letters?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Those letters are — they were January 30th, which is important. It was the closing date. 

THE COURT:  Twenty-fourteen. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Twenty-fourteen. And January 22nd, 2015. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So why did it take so long for you to get those letters?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  The real estate — I’ve been trying to get all the documents from the real estate lawyer and she only provided me with a series of documents, which were duplicates of documents previously provided except these letters, which are important. Basically they only — they are — the time-wise basically is the date of those letters, the closing date and the 23rd of January, which — the information itself contained in those letters is not that important, but the date, the date [sic] were important. They coincide with the closing dates. 

THE COURT:  Well, if the content of the letter is not that important...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Well....

THE COURT:  ...why are you filing them?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Because they — there, there is some importance as to what occurred on the, on the 30th, January 30th. Was there a tender? Was there an attempt to extend the closing? Were they — basically that’s all. 

THE COURT:  Okay. And then the other letter from January 22nd, 2015?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Twenty-fifteen, the — there was a reference to completing — was a concern of the previous solicitor, Stephen Michael, as to the completion of the remedial work before January 30th. This is a letter of the January 22nd. 

THE COURT:  You tell me that was 2015. Is it....

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Twenty-fifteen. I apologize, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  So if it’s January 22nd, 2015 what does that have to do with the remedial work done before January the 30th?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Because the closing was January 30th, 2015 and the work had to be completed by, by the closing date. 

THE COURT:  I thought the closing was January 30th....

MR. SARROS:  Twenty-fifteen, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Twenty-fifteen. So then you just said January 30, 2014?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I’m sorry, Your Honour. I meant....

MR. SARROS:  I believe my friend misspoke, with...

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. SARROS:  ...fairness to my friend. 

THE COURT:  All right. It may be that I suggested that, because there were a lot of dates in 2014. All right. So how is it that you received some letters from the real estate lawyer, but not others? Why do you get these letters so late? I don’t understand. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I’ve been chasing the real estate lawyer, not personally, through my client and on the 27th I received a series of, of documents, which were already provided except these, these two letters. 

THE COURT:  The 27th of what?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Of September. 

THE COURT:  So September 27 you get new copies of documents that you previously had plus two new letters?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  And when was the examination?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  On the 27th of September. 

THE COURT:  So if you got them that day why didn’t you give them to counsel that day?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  They were emailed to me and I was in Kitchener. My office is in Toronto. I only saw them after I, I returned from Kitchener from the examination. 

THE COURT:  I’m not sure I understand. So you rely on your client to communicate with a lawyer? Why don’t you contact the lawyer and ask for documents?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I, I did, Your Honour, by, by letter, by email and she’s, she’s not accessible by phone. She’s not — I had experience with this letter — with this lawyer before. 

THE COURT:  You’re telling me this lawyer doesn’t answer her phone?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It’s difficult to get a hold of her, Your Honour, to contact her by phone, so I would email her, email my client with the cc, cc to the lawyer regarding documents. I need more documents, any other documents. 

THE COURT:  Have you given your friend copies of those requests...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  ...for documents? So are you telling me that — when did you send formal requests to this lawyer for copies of documents?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Oh, throughout. Since, since I was retained. 

THE COURT:  Give me dates. When did you actually request the documents from the real estate lawyer?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I don’t have — it’s all in my, on my system, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Well, sir, you can’t come...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Apologize. 

THE COURT:   ...in here and tell me that documents were received late without telling me when you made the request for those documents. That’s not appropriate. If you only made those requests the day before September 27 that’s relevant, don’t you think?
MR. OUANOUNOU:  Your Honour, I did not make them before the 27th. 

THE COURT:  Well, then when did you make them? Do you need some time to call your office and get copies of those documents sent here?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It’s in — the office is in Toronto, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Right. And there’s a, a library downstairs where they can send copies of documents if that’s what you wish. I’m not prepared to simply accept your word that you asked for them at some point. I need some more specifics in terms of when a formal request was sent to this lawyer so that I understand when you requested it and what you asked for. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I, I may, I may have some responses. 

THE COURT:  Well, here’s what I’m going to do. We’re going to start. I’m not going to allow you to file that affidavit. I, I understand the rules are that when a party examines another party that you’re not allowed to file additional affidavits after that. And, and there’s good reason for that and, I mean, I, I already have four affidavits from your client. I mean I — there, there has to be a line drawn somewhere in particular in this circumstance. You haven’t given me sufficient information to satisfy me that those documents that are in this new affidavit, that you’re going to, you’re going to add anything that wasn’t previously available. So we can revisit this after a break. You provide me with proof that you made formal requests to this lawyer for documents well prior to September 27 of 2018 and, and I’ll consider it at that point, understanding that it may well be that you’ll be able to convince me that you made requests previously, but simply didn’t get the cooperation of that counsel. But right now I don’t have anything other than you simply saying that at some point you made some sort of request and I don’t know what that means. So I, I’m not prepared to allow you to file it at this point. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Thank you, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Now, with respect to the new affidavit for the applicant, this is a letter that was received from the Grand River Conservation Authority?

MR. SARROS:  This is a response to my letter to the Region of Waterloo, which I sent on September 22nd. It’s attached to Exhibit D of my client’s affidavit sworn September 27th. The response was late. The response came to me on November 13th. Now, I, I could have run to the court, but I was doing a lot of running back and forth. It’s simply an email responding to my request and....

THE COURT:  What is the rule that deals with late filing of affidavits after questioning has taken place?

MR. SARROS:  Well, Your Honour, I don’t think there’s any rule that prohibits me from asking it to be filed other than rules of service. 

THE COURT:  No, but the rule that you — there is a rule, the one that you’re relying on to prevent the other affidavit from being filed after questioning. What rule is that?

MR. SARROS:  I think that’s rule 38. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Thirty-nine. 

MR. SARROS:  Excuse me. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Thirty-nine-zero-two-two. The party who has cross-examined an affidavit delivered by an adverse party shall not subsequently deliver an affidavit for use at a hearing or conduct an examination under 29(3) without leave or consent and the court shall grant leave [inaudible] as are just.

THE COURT:  Right. A party who has cross-examined on an affidavit. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Correct. And....

THE COURT:  So, Mr. Ouanounou, you’ve cross-examined...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  We...

THE COURT:  ...the applicant?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  ...we started cross-examination and adjourned because the applicant didn’t have documents with, any documents with him and there were undertaking providing. So the intention was to, to return. 

THE COURT:  Right. So, Mr. Sarros, you haven’t conducted cross-examination, is that right?

MR. SARROS:  That’s correct and we fulfilled all of our undertakings. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So do you have objection to Mr. Sarros filing this affidavit?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I have no objection, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So I’ll receive that then. 

MR. SARROS:  Okay. For the benefit of the record I’m handing my friend...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Thank you. 

MR. SARROS:  ...a copy of my client’s affidavit sworn November 27th. 

THE COURT:  He didn’t previously receive a copy?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  No. I just received the document now. 

THE COURT:  Okay. We’ll take a moment so you can read it and I’ll read it as well. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I understand what the document is. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Just to confirm, it says to the Region of Waterloo basically. 

MR. SARROS:  Yeah. 

THE COURT:  I see. So a copy of this email was already provided to Mr. Ouanounou? 

MR. SARROS:  Actually yes. I’m mistaken. I did, I did carbon copy him on November 13th, so....

MR. OUANOUNOU:  The, the first, the request. 

MR. SARROS:  Also the response from Ms Oriana Sharp (ph), who’s a representative of the Region of Waterloo. She responded to my request on November 13th, “I can confirm there are no records related to your request. A formal letter confirming the same will follow.” And then later on that day I thank her for that and I copy my friend on that correspondence. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  13th. I know that — [inaudible] does, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  So where is the original request then to the region?

MR. SARROS:  The original request, Your Honour, is found at the affidavit of my client, Mr. Traian Fascia (ph), sworn September 27th, 2018, Exhibit D. At Exhibit D — well, if Your Honour has any questions let me know. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So this was a request to the Region of Waterloo for copies of all work orders, deficiency notices, deficiency lists and deficiency reports outstanding during the relevant period and her response is that there are no records related to your request?

MR. SARROS:  That’s right, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Right. All right. Okay. Are we ready to proceed?

MR. SARROS:  I’m ready to proceed. 

THE COURT:  Go ahead. 

MR. SARROS:  Thank you, Your Honour. For the benefit of the record, Harry Sarros, lawyer for the applicant, 1784773 Ontario Inc. We bring an application under rule 14-05(3)(a), (d) and (h) of the rules. We seek a declaration that the $40,000.00 deposit concerning the agreement of purchase and sale dated February 14th, 2014 was forfeited by the respondent, 1698409 Ontario Ltd. and that the deposit rightfully belongs to my client. By order of Justice, Honourable Mr. Justice D. Broad, dated November 16, 2017....

THE COURT:  I can just interrupt you, counsel. I read all the affidavits, the...

MR. SARROS:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  ...factums. I understand the background. I really want you to get to the point, which is, as I understand it, whether or not there was — the, the issues raised by counsel are was there a work order, deficiency notice, deficiency list, deficiency report, was this a condition or a warranty and the other issues that you’ve raised in, in your factums. I’d like you to just go right to the heart of it, please. 

MR. SARROS:  Okay, Your Honour. Well, in short, Your Honour, we say that this transaction that was — after several amendments was set to close on January 30th, 2015, we say that the transaction failed to close due to the respondent failing to tender the balance of the purchase price on close. The fact of the matter is the respondent was not ready, willing or able to close. They did not tender on closing date. I expect my friend to make the position that it’s our fault that the deal didn’t close, that there were outstanding work orders and deficiency notices outstanding against the property. The fact of the matter is, Your Honour, we have conclusive evidence, conclusive evidence from the Region of Waterloo and from the City of Kitchener stating conclusively there are no work orders or deficiency notices, or there’s an absence of evidence that there are any work orders and deficiency notices outstanding against the property. That alone should do away with the case. In addition I provided a parcel document during the relevant time from January 1st, 2014 up until January 30th, 2015. There is no registration of any work order or deficiency notice against the property. My client has given affidavit evidence that the work that was being done was with respect to a, a drainage pipe or, or sewage system that was being done to the road next to Victoria Street. That work was not on the property. Even if it was on the property I would submit there could be no valid objection to title, because as we know in the paragraph 10 of the agreement of purchase and sale provides a title provision and it saves and exempts, “Any easements or drainage, storm or sanitary sewers, public...

THE COURT:  Sorry. 

MR. SARROS:  ...utility....”

THE COURT:  I, I need you to just slow down for a moment. 

MR. SARROS:  Not a problem, Your Honour. So that would be....

THE COURT:  Just a moment. Just a moment. 

MR. SARROS:  Sure. 

THE COURT:  All right. So I am familiar with the evidence, but obviously your clients take pretty starkly different positions regarding the nature of the work. So apart from your client saying that it was for a drainage sewer system that was not on the property can you take me to evidence that shows that that’s the case? Because I’ve looked at the exhibits that are related to the — let me just see if I can find the right language? It was an issue of — grading on the property was, was one of the terms used in one of the documents that was issued and then there was subsequently an application by your client to complete work on the property, which I understood to, to address that grading issue. So can you take me through those documents and explain to me how they are relevant to a sewage pipe underneath Victoria Street?

MR. SARROS:  Well, Your Honour, first I would respectfully submit that the onus should lie on my friend to connect those documents to a work order or deficiency. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So — fair enough. So let’s just say for the moment that I’ve read those documents and for purposes of your argument I’d like you to assume that what I see is a request by the City of Kitchener to do some grading on the property and then an application by your client to do the grading on the property. Is that true?

MR. SARROS:  The request was not from the City of Kitchener. 

THE COURT:  Oh, okay. Who is it from?

MR. SARROS:  I, I believe it was from the Grand River Association. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So just a moment. Show me that. Take me to it and show me. Let’s go through the documents together. 

MR. SARROS:  Okay, Your Honour. It would likely be found in my, my friend’s material and....

THE COURT:  I think you’re going to find it in the respondent’s application record, tab J. 

MR. SARROS:  Okay. Well...

THE COURT:  Is that it?

MR. SARROS:  ...if we’re looking at the — if we’re looking at schedule A, Application for Development Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Water....

THE COURT:  What are — I’m sorry. I don’t know what you’re looking at. 

MR. SARROS:  Did — do you want to look at my friend’s — the, the responding application record? I’ll put that up right now, Your Honour. Okay. 

THE COURT:  So tab J of the responding application record. 

MR. SARROS:  All right. I am there, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So this is a document that appears to be a report requiring some grading to be done on the property. 

MR. SARROS:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  Is that right?

MR. SARROS:  Well, I, I don’t know if I agree. Well, generally I, I might agree with that characterization. The report, however, is from I.B.I. Group. It’s not from the City of Kitchener... 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. SARROS:  ...or the Region of Waterloo. 

THE COURT:  So the, the report from I.B.I. Group recommends that there be some work done on the property, proposed remediation work, right?

MR. SARROS:  That’s what it says. 

THE COURT:  “In response to various correspondence received from the Region of Waterloo, the City of Kitchener and the Grand River Conservation Authority”, right?

MR. SARROS:  That’s what the letter says. Refers to remedial works. 

THE COURT:  Right. So who is I.B.I. Group?

MR. SARROS:  Well, I.B.I. Group appears to be an engineering group.

THE COURT:  Right. Who retained them?

MR. SARROS:  Your Honour, I don’t have — that’s not in the evidence. I, I do understand that my client did apply for a permit. 

THE COURT:  Right. As, so as — even though you might be right. I, I may not have evidence as to who I.B.I. Group is, but I.B.I. Group appears to recommend work being done and then attached at schedule A is an Application for Development Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shoreline and Watercourse Permit, which is signed by your client...

MR. SARROS:  That’s right. 

THE COURT:  ...right? So — and their agent being I.B.I. Group right on that form. So I.B.I. Group must be giving your client advice to do this work to conform with requests from the Region of Waterloo, City of Kitchener and Grand River Conservation of Authority. 

MR. SARROS:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  That’s what this says on its face, so talk me through this in terms of — because what I have is I have a bunch of correspondence between the parties where the purchaser is saying you have to, you have to complete this work before we buy it. And you agree to an extension of time to allow you to do the work and then you don’t do the work, and then there’s more discussion about whether the deal can close, and we extend the, the closing date again to comply. And I, I understand you weren’t counsel, but I don’t think that the applicant ever said we have to close. You don’t maybe close — maybe after January 30th...

MR. SARROS:  The applicant....

THE COURT:  ...someone said....

MR. SARROS:  The applicant did say that we’re ready to close. In fact I’ll take you, Your Honour, to a, a letter.

THE COURT:  Did anyone ever say, did the applicant say this isn’t a work permit issue; this is a voluntary grading issue and, and we’re not going to delay this any further? 

MR. SARROS:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. SARROS:  Do you want me to — I can take you — first of all I’ll, I’ll, I’ll take you to a letter written by a real estate solicitor for my client who says we’re, we’re ready to close. 

THE COURT:  Right. So if, if they’re ready to close and it’s a voluntary thing why do they agree to keep delaying the closing date to do the work?

MR. SARROS:  Your Honour, I was not there and there’s no — there’s not a lot of evidence as to why these extensions were occurring. What we do know is that there was no outstanding work order or deficiency notice. It appears that there was some work that was — that my client might’ve been dealing with I.B.I. Group to do with respect to the property having regard to that letter attached to Exhibit J. But if we go on in that letter it refers to drainage areas. It refers to an existing 1200 millimetre diameter storm sewer pipe under Victoria Street north drains onto the property. That, to me, sounds like — now, I’m no expert and we have no expert reports, but again, I’m looking at Exhibit J, that letter August 25th, 2014 from I.B.I. Group, toward the bottom of the first page of the letter it refers to a storm sewer pipe under Victoria Street North that drains onto the property. It would seem to me that this proposed work was with respect to a sewer pipe underneath the road. It goes on to say the 1200 millimetre diameter pipe collects drainage from Victoria Street right away. So this proposed work is with respect to a, a drainage pipe under Victoria Street North and I submit that there could’ve been no valid objection to title on account of this work. The deal should’ve proceeded in any event. Now, I wanted to address a few things that Your Honour mentioned, brought up. 

THE COURT:  Do I have the correspondence received from the Region of Waterloo, City of Kitchener and the Grand River Conservation Authority? Do I have that?

MR. SARROS:  With respect to my freedom of information request?

THE COURT:  No. So this letter from I.B.I. Group dated August 25, 2014...

MR. SARROS:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  ...that report was prepared in response to various correspondence received from the Region of Waterloo, City of Kitchener and the Grand River Conservation Authority. Do I have those letters?

MR. SARROS:  That’s not in the record. 

THE COURT:  Why not?

MR. SARROS:  Well, with respect, if — I don’t think the onus lies on us. I, I don’t think that’s relevant to our case. 

THE COURT:  Have you disclosed them?

MR. SARROS:  Your Honour, I, I have — those letters are not in my file. 

THE COURT:  Have you disclosed them?

MR. SARROS:  I cannot disclose them if I don’t have them. 

THE COURT:  You can request them. They’re within your control, are they not?

MR. SARROS:  They might be. My friend had an opportunity to put that question to my client during examination. I don’t believe it was put to my client. No request to, to produce those documents was made therefore we didn’t produce them. 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. SARROS:  So — but we do know, and I, and I don’t mean to repeat myself, is that I did make a request to the relevant authorities as contemplated in that clause in the agreement of purchase and sale. I did ask for work orders and deficiency notices, and they said there are none. There’s, there’s more correspondence, Your Honour. There’s a affidavit of my client November 1st, Exhibit M. There’s a letter from the solicitor on behalf of my client at the relevant time writing to the solicitor for the buyer. “We do not have any outstanding work permits or work....”

THE COURT:  Sorry. I need to catch up with you. 

MR. SARROS:  Sorry, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Just give me a moment, please. Yes. Okay. I have it. Thank you. 

MR. SARROS:  So if, if Your Honour just wants to tab that. 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. SARROS:  And that email is dated December 16, 2014. We also have, we have Exhibit L to that affidavit from the previous real estate solicitor, Mr. Hoskinson, who writes on July 17th: 

“I’ve just spoken to John Perks (ph) at I.B.I. Group who stated that the work required is not manual work, but reviewing and stamping approvals on the plan, not physical work.” 

Excuse me, Your Honour. Sorry, Your Honour. And the solicitor, I would submit, rightly suggests that there’s no reason to delay closing for paperwork, which is not difficult to complete and can be done regardless of who the owner is, therefore we can close today and I’ll get the plans approved with a hold back of 10,000 to ensure that this is done. I think that the solicitor had it right. The deal should’ve proceeded and if there was any paperwork to be filled out, that could’ve been done by, by the new owner. If Your Honour would like to tab....

THE COURT:  But the closing date was extended to January 2015. So if that’s the case then why — if it was just a matter of stamping it with approvals then why did that not take place between July and January?

MR. SARROS:  Again, Your Honour, I was not there. I’m not sure, but I’m just merely pointing out that this is what a solicitor represented at the time. 

THE COURT:  So how does that help me? That doesn’t mean it’s true. 

MR. SARROS:  It doesn’t mean it’s true...

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. SARROS:  ...but I also want to refer Your Honour to Exhibit N of...

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. SARROS:  ...that same affidavit. This is a letter from a subsequent — I understand that there were three real estate solicitors for my client. This is a letter dated January 5th, 2015 and very close to the closing date, and it says: 

“My client advises me that the vendor and purchaser are ready and willing to close. My client further advises me there’s no work orders or permits outstanding to any of the relevant organizations and as a result he wishes to close as soon as possible.”

THE COURT:  Where’s the letter from the City of Kitchener that they don’t have any work orders?

MR. SARROS:  Yes, Your Honour. That is contained at the affidavit of my client sworn September 27th. 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. SARROS:  Exhibit B. Ms Marion Santos (ph) holds her out — holds herself out in an email dated September 20th as the, “Official person within the City of Kitchener who coordinates all of the freedom of information requests.” 

THE COURT:  Sorry. Exhibit D?

MR. SARROS:  That is Exhibit B. I’m sorry. 

THE COURT:  Oh, okay. 

MR. SARROS:  B. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  What, what affidavit is that?

MR. SARROS:  That’s the affidavit September 27th, 2018. And there was, sorry, there was another affidavit, a previous one where it was confirmed. So in the affidavit of March 7th, 2018 at Exhibit B there’s a letter from the City of Kitchener. 

THE COURT:  Which letter?

MR. SARROS:  Dated February 26, 2018. That, that is attached to Exhibit B of the March 7th affidavit and in this letter it’s addressed to me. It says:

“According to the City of Kitchener building division they do not have any records of work orders, deficiency notices, deficiency lists, deficiency reports outstanding for this property for the dates you specified.”

In, in my friend’s affidavit, which came after that, he takes issue that, oh, that’s from the building division, not from the infrastructure department. So I had followed up with Marion Santos in the later affidavit of September 27th and she clarified that she coordinates all of the freedom of information requests, including within the infrastructure services department. So it’s not the case that, you know, there was a department in the City of Kitchener that was not contacted to search for these records. All of the departments were contacted and they have nothing with respect to my request. I’m prepared to make some alternate positions assuming that there was a work order outstanding against the property, which is obviously going to be strenuously denied. But even if there were outstanding work orders against the property, which we deny, I would submit that having regard to the provision contained in the amendment, okay, the amendment, which is attached to Exhibit C in the — my client’s first affidavit of April 7th, 2017, there are some paragraphs that are deleted and then there are some paragraphs that are inserted. I would note that absent, absent in the paragraphs inserted is the word, “Conditional”, yet the word, “Conditional” appears in the, in the paragraphs that are deleted. I would submit that, having regard to rules of construction, the, the court should take that to mean that, well, they didn’t intend it to be conditional or a condition, ‘cause if they wanted it to be it would’ve said, “Condition”, but the word, “Condition” is absent. Therefore I would submit to the court that it’s a warrant. So if it’s a warranty then a breach thereof is no reason to bring an agreement to an end. The proper course is to sue for damages, so not bring the agreement to an end. And I believe I, I’ve tried to assist Your Honour by referring Your Honour to paragraph 10 of the agreement of sale, which deals with the title provision and saves and exempts certain work including — and I can read that to you — “Any easements for drainage, storm or sanitary sewers.”

THE COURT:  What are you reading from?

MR. SARROS:  I’m reading paragraph 10 of the agreement of purchase and sale. 

THE COURT:  Which is?

MR. SARROS:  Which is attached to Exhibit A, client’s affidavit in the application record. 

THE COURT:  Yes. Paragraph 10. 

MR. SARROS:  So that’s a title provision and, well, it provides that the property is good and free from all registered restrictions, charges, liens, encumbrances, so basically provides or warrants that, you know, the property’s good. But it goes on to say, “Except as otherwise specifically provided in this agreement and save and except for....” and then delineates (a), (b), (c), (d). In (d) it covers any easements for drainage, storm or sanitary sewers — goes on, “Which do not materially affect the use of the property.” So even, even if there was an easement for drainage, storm or sanitary sewers or work being done with respect to that it’s exempted in this paragraph. 

THE COURT:  Can you give that to me again?

MR. SARROS:  Yes, Your Honour. So paragraph 10 is the title provision. It basically warrants that the property is good and free from all registered restrictions, charges, liens and encumbrances except as otherwise specifically provided in this agreement and save and except for — and then delineates certain exemptions. In paragraph (d) it covers drainage, storm or sanitary sewers. 

THE COURT:  Covers easements for those things. 

MR. SARROS:  Easements for drainage, storm or....

THE COURT:  This isn’t an easement, is it? 

MR. SARROS:  No, it’s not an easement. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. SARROS:  So there could not have been a valid objection to title. They should’ve complete — they should have tendered on close and completed the deal, and the new owner, if there was any outstanding work the new owner should’ve completed it. There was no, no valid objection to title. I believe, and I believe I’ve provided sufficient evidence to the court to establish that there were no outstanding work orders or deficiency notices. I don’t have any further submissions on that. I think I’ll just reply to my friend’s responding submissions. But with respect to the relief of forfeiture, if.....

THE COURT:  It’s not being sought, is it? I didn’t read that in any material from the respondent. Are you seeking relief from forfeiture?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  No, no, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So you don’t need to make submissions on that. 

MR. SARROS:  Okay. So in closing we submit that this deal failed to close due to the buyer not being ready, willing and able, not tendering on close in accordance with the tender provision found at, it’s paragraph 21 of the agreement of purchase and sale, and that it’s the buyer’s fault that it didn’t close. The — you know, it’s well settled that if, if a party repudiates an, an agreement of purchase and sale the innocent party is entitled to the deposit. In this case the deposit represents only 16 per cent of the total purchase price. It would not be unconscionable for my client to keep the deposit or disproportion it and, and we ask the, the honourable court to declare that my client is entitled to the deposit. Your Honour, those are my submissions. I thank the court for its time. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. Yes. Go ahead.  

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Thank you, Your Honour. Obviously my friend is misreading certain paragraphs of the agreement of purchase and sale. As to a deficiency or work order, at the, at the respondent’s application record the initial letter from Marilyn Reiter (ph) who was the real estate lawyer for the respondent, brought the whole issue of these deficiencies to the — this is back on July 17th, 2014. Since July [inaudible] you had Mr. .....

THE COURT:  I’m sorry. Where are — what letter are you talking about?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I’m sorry. It’s tab — Exhibit C, respondent’s application record. 

THE COURT:  July 2014? That’s what you’re talking about?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  July 17, ’14. An email from Marilyn Reiter to Bill Hoskinson, which is Exhibit C. All right. In, in that email it — she points out to the condition that was added by amendment, which is amendment, the amendment it — as Exhibit B of the respondent application record. And it’s clear....

THE COURT:  So where is this letter? She refers to:

“I forwarded to you a report from the development engineering department of the City of Kitchener, which stated that changes have been made to the grading of the above noted property without approval from the City of Kitchener.” 

Where’s that letter? 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  That’s, that’s the problem. I didn’t — I cannot — I could not get it from her. She apparently, she referred to the I.B.I. letter to the City of Kitchener, which Your Honour — the, the August 25th, 2014 letter to the Regional Municipality of Waterloo as being that report. I’ve asked her again, “Is that the letter you're referring to in your email?” “Yes”, she says. So as far as I know this is the, the letter she is referring to, which deals with the — states that the property is located within the Grand River Conservation area. 

THE COURT:  All right. Just a moment. I need to understand this, because you’re confusing me. You’re saying that a report dated in August 2014 is the report that she included in an email from July 17, 2014?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  No, I asked her whether the, the report she’s referring in this email of July 17th, if it is the letter, is this the 25th? She says yes. 

THE COURT:  Is it what? I, I don’t understand. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  The only document that I received from the lawyer is the August 25th, 2014, the I.B.I. letter. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So are you not understanding my question?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  No, I understand...

THE COURT:  How could she...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  ...your....

THE COURT:  ...possibly send a report dated in August when she’s sending this email in July?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  In July. Correct. Again, I asked her is this — does this letter — is the letter you’re referring to as a report? She says yes. There was no — I couldn’t get anything from her. 

THE COURT:  Did you ask the City of Kitchener?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  The — from the, the City of Kitchener we have this letter from — to I.B.I. from the infrastructure service department, which is Exhibit B to the supplemental affidavit, which sets out exactly what had to be done. 

THE COURT:  Where is that letter?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It’s in, it’s in the March 21st supplemental affidavit of Alex Scholyar, Exhibit B. 

THE COURT:  B or D?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  B. B. 

THE COURT:  I’m sorry?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  B. B as in “Bob”, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So you have this letter of July 29, 2013. Did you get that from the City of Kitchener?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  No, I got it from the, from the real estate solicitor. 

THE COURT:  Who? The one....

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Marilyn. Correct. Marilyn....

THE COURT:  Reiter. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Reiter. Correct. 

THE COURT:  So why didn’t you ask the City of Kitchener for a report from the development engineering department of the City of Kitchener that was dated on or before July 16, 2014? Did you, did you make that inquiry?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  No, Your Honour, because it was the agreement — it was our position the agreement was conditional upon the, the applicant completing certain work. It was obvious that all the solicitors involved agreed to extend the closing because the work was not done. 

THE COURT:  But what’s the evidence...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  So....

THE COURT:  ...of what work was not done?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  But the work set out here then we have at Exhibit....

THE COURT:  “Set out here”? What do you mean, “Here”?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  In, in — I apologize. In Exhibit B, letter from the Kitchener infrastructure services. And then we have a letter from I.B.I. to the applicant, Mr. Fascia, Exhibit B, which set out, sets out the work that has to be done. This is Mr. Fascia or the applicant’s own engineer who sets out the work has to be done on the property. 

THE COURT:  I see. This letter from the City of Kitchener is from 2013. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  The, the condition was for the applicant to deal with this matter raised by the infrastructure services department of the City of Kitchener by the Grand River Conservative [sic] — Conservation Authority, which my friend denies that it, it, it is part of the conservation authority area. Then we have this letter from I.B.I., engineers retained by the applicant setting out the work that has to be done plus the, the estimated cost. All this was known to every, every lawyer involved, that the agreement was conditional. That’s why those extension, those various extensions agreed to. Now, my friend is alleging that the agreement was not — this was a warranty. I submit, Your Honour, it’s not a warranty and he relies on the case, Jasinski in his book of authority at, at tab B, where His Honour MacPherson distinguishes between a warranty and a condition.  What is a warranty, what is a condition and what are the implication of the warranty and what are the implication of a condition? In this case the agreement is clear. The amendment, the agreement of purchase and sale [inaudible]. The seller warrants that. 

THE COURT:  What are you reading from now? You’re talking about the case?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  The case that — my first — the Jasinski case, the, in the facts. 

THE COURT:  What paragraph are you reading from?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  At page — under paragraph four it refers to the vendor warrants they are, they are work orders or deficiencies [inaudible] standing against your property it would be complied with at his expense on or before closing. This is the agreement that, that was referred to in this case and it specifically calls it, “Warrants”. Use the word, “Warrants”. Where in our case it just says the work has to be complied with 10 days before, 10 days before closing. 

THE COURT:  All right. So do you have a case that tells me when it doesn’t say either way that makes it a condition? 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Obviously the — Your Honour, I’ve been practicing real estate for 35 years. This is — it’s obviously a condition. It doesn’t — it’s not a warranty and all three lawyers, all the lawyers have relied on that as a, a term of — as being a condition....

THE COURT:  Sorry. I’m going to just interrupt you. I don’t think you answered my question. Do you have a case — obviously you said you’ve been practicing this, in this area for 35 years. Give me a case that says it is a condition if it doesn’t say either way. How do I know that it’s a condition?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  By deductive — by deduction if it doesn’t say warranty, warrant, it’s — it would be a condition. 

THE COURT:  Why?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  The, the seller had produced something 10 days before the closing. If you, if you refer to the amendment itself and from the reading of it....

THE COURT:  Which amendment?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  The amendment in this case, the amendment, which is at tab B. 

THE COURT:  Of? 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Of the respondent application record. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  And it’s under, “Insert”. It says that there are no work orders or deficiency notices outstanding against the property from Town of Kitchener or Region of Waterloo and if so would be complied with at seller’s expense within 10 days before closing of this transaction. That’s a condition. 

THE COURT:  How is...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It...

THE COURT:  ...it a condition?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  ...it has to be complied for 10 days before closing. In all the previous the applicant solicitor treated it as a, as a condition. They, they agreed to the extension of the agreement of the closing date. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So do you have a case that tells me that the...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  No, I don’t have, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  ...that the parties treat it as such then it is a condition?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  No, Your Honour, I don’t. Then we have the reply from the conservation authority to my friend’s request under the, the Privacy Informations Act [sic]. It’s undertaking and refusal chart. 

THE COURT:  What are you looking at?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  My friend’s further undertaking and refusal chart...

THE COURT:  Mm-hmm. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  ...of the applicant dated October 30th, 2018. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  And the — on October 18th the conservation, the Grand River Conservation Authority replied. Then on the, on the 19th there’s a letter dated October 19 at the end of that document. 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Says Mr. — we have received your fax dated October — we understand that you are solicitor for Mr. Traian Fascia and further that you are, and further that you are, you are seeking a copy of the permit of any approved plan, if any, resulted from the attached application. This is referring to the application by the applicant. I, I can confirm that the Grand River did receive the attached application. Conditional approval was granted by permit. Number 45 — 7 of 14, on September 14, to be clear the storm, storm water outlet at 1253 Victoria Street conditional upon the submission approval of final plans to the satisfaction of the Grand River Conservation area. This condition was not satisfied therefore a permit was not issued. I mean obviously it sets out what had to be done by the applicant, but he didn’t comply with it, not even the application itself. 

THE COURT:  So how is that — let’s go back to the amended agreement of purchase and sale, and the term, how is that a work order or deficiency notice?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It’s, it’s a deficiency, which — a deficiency is if the purchaser assumes it he’s going to have to comply with it. 

THE COURT:  How do I know that?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Well, obviously if — I mean they were negotiating through correspondence. I don’t know if you saw, Your Honour saw. They were negotiate [sic] abatement of the purchase price, 60,000, 18,000, whatever. The, the abatement was to have the, the, the purchaser goes as is and, and, and go the work — and do the work order himself, because the property is subject to those deficiencies. That work had to be done. It’s not a typical work order from the city and the building department or the electrical, plumbing department. This is something between the conservation authority, the infrastructure department. All these three agencies had to approve the, the work. 

THE COURT:  What three agencies?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  The Region of Waterloo, the City of, of Kitchener and the Grand River Conservacy [sic]. And this is set out in, in the letter, in the — at Exhibit A — I’m sorry. Apologize, Your Honour. It’s at, oh, it’s at Exhibit D of the supplemental affidavit sworn on March 21st, which is a letter from I.B.I. to the applicant setting out what had to be done. The existing [inaudible] pipe would need to be removed and the [inaudible] reinstated with [inaudible] and grass. The municipality and the Grand River Cons [sic] will likely require some landscaping to be planted. 

THE COURT:  I don’t know where you’re reading from. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It’s in Exhibit D. 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Letter dated 23rd of January, 19 — 2015. 

THE COURT:  Yes, I’m there. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  Where in the letter? 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Second paragraph, “We also attach a preliminary red line drawing of the concept for this outlet channel. Aspect of the proposed channel would include....” — and it sets out what has to be done. And paragraph three, the municipality — and also suggests that the municipality and the Grand River Conservation will likely require landscaping. Then third, the third — that would be the third paragraph down in terms of the approximate cost — it appears that the applicant was concerned about the cost. The engineering department [inaudible] the design fee, the application to the Grand River Conservation of 1,100 — landscaping estimated. So again this is work the own engineer, the applicant’s own engineer sets out the work that has to be done and this goes back to the July 2013 letter from the infrastructure department, which sets out the work that has to be done. My friend says it’s not a work order, but this is work that had to be done. It did not appear in the building department, but we have letters here from the infrastructure, from the region, the region that deals with this, this work. 

THE COURT:  You’re talking about the July 29, 2013 letter?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  That’s correct. 

THE COURT:  Right. So how do you account for the fact that the applicant makes a request, freedom of information request to the City of Kitchener to the person who is in charge of all the records for the city, including this department, and she says there are no work orders or deficiencies?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Obviously she did not ask the infrastructure or check with the infrastructure department. 

THE COURT:  Okay. So did you write to her and say hey, did you check this?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Your Honour, I did not have to, because this — the, the condition is clear. All these letters are clear setting out the work that — the agreement was conditional about certain work to be done. 

THE COURT:  Well, see, here’s my problem. The applicant says it’s your onus to prove on a balance of probabilities that, that the respondent couldn’t meet the requirements in the agreement of purchase and sale. Even if I were to accept your submission that it’s a condition, the condition, if you want to call it that, is that there are no work orders or deficiency notices outstanding against the property from the Town of Kitchener or Region of Waterloo. He’s asked the Town of Kitchener, “Were there any work orders or deficiency notices outstanding?” They say, “No.” He’s asked the Region of Waterloo are there — “Were there work orders or deficiency notices outstanding?” They say, “No.” But you haven’t given me anything. You’ve given me this letter, but the letter doesn’t tell me that that’s a work order or a deficiency notice. Does it tell me that? Where does it tell me that?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It tells, it, it tells Your Honour that there is work to be done. 

THE COURT:  Sure. What does, “Work to be done” mean? What does that mean? 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Some grading work, some pipe work, pipe work set out in that letter of the July 3rd — of the 2013. Then we have the letter from, from the conservation authority, which is a reply to my friend’s request under the Freedom of Information Act and, and sets out the permits had to be obtained and certain plans had to be, had to, had to be provided, but again the applicant didn’t, didn’t do it. The lawyers acting for the, the seller — I mean if we look at Exhibit F....

THE COURT:  Of?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Of respondent applications [sic] record, application record. 

THE COURT:  Just a moment. Yes, I’m there. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It refers to, again, as is purchase price and then refers to the I.B.I. letter plan my — dealing with changes. We have the applicant’s application to the Grand River Conservation Authority of August 21st, ’14. We have the reply letter from I.B.M. [sic] to the Regional Municipality of Waterloo referring to work orders to work that has to be done and approved, and approved by the, the city, the region and the conservation authority. These are work that had to be done 10 days before the closing, closing date, which had to be — and approved by the, the, the agencies 10 days before closing, otherwise the deal, the deal will not close. My friend is, is referring to the tender procedure. Tender, if the applicant or the seller fails there was, there was a breach why didn’t the seller tender? There’s no evidence of tender. The purchaser didn’t have to tender. It was a, it was a condition. Things had to be done before the closing date. It was, it was clear throughout all the conversation, all the correspondence that certain things had to be done before the closing date. My, my friend raises the issue of tender. If you feel you were hurt where’s your tender? Did you show any — did you tender on the, on the, on the seller, on the buyer? There was no evidence before the court as to any tender. The agreement lapsed period, as it did previously. As, as was, was referred to by David Beakly (ph), one of the previously solicitor in the letter dated October 29th, 2014, which my friend objects it being introduced on the grounds it’s without prejudice. The issue of without prejudice, Your Honour, deals with litigious matters where, to encourage settlement, lawyers can make proposal of settlement offers freely by entitling the document, “Without prejudice”. But here this letter only deals with an abatement of the purchase price. It doesn’t deal with litigation or offer to settle. It’s an offer to amend the agreement to reduce the purchase price. Then in October 29th he, he points out that there was no extension of the — no agreement to extend the closing date therefore the agreement, the initial agreement is null and void. It had to be revived. [Inaudible] there’s an agreement that revives, that confirms the revival of the agreement. That’s not the case here. There was no extension, no agreement to extend after January 30th, 2015. There was no tender. Now my friend raises the issue, two years later, three years later he raises the issue, oh, you breach your agreement, we’re entitled to the deposit. I submit to Your Honour, no, the agreement, the agreement lapsed. It’s clear if we refer to paragraph 10 of the agreement of purchase and sale, if the agreement, notwithstanding any intermediate act, shall, it shall be at an end. This is, Your Honour, paragraph 10. I, I may have a copy here of the....

THE COURT:  It must be in the record somewhere. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It’s in the record, yeah, but for convenience....

THE COURT:  Where is it in the record?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  It would be at — in Exhibit A in the respondent’s, respondent application record. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  That’s the agreement itself. Then if we go to paragraph 10...

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  ...the middle of — it says if within a specified time referred to in paragraph eight, any valid objection to title or any outstanding work order or deficiency notice, or to the fact that the present [inaudible] will be lawfully, be continued or that this principle building may not be ensured against risk of fire is made in writing to seller, which is unable or unwilling to remove, remedy or satisfy, or obtain insurance, save and except risk of fire, title insurance, [inaudible] the buyer or [inaudible], and which the buyer will not waive, this agreement, notwithstanding any intermediate act on negotiation in respect of [inaudible] direction, shall be attendant [inaudible] and all monies paid shall be returned without interest or deductions. So basically if, if the agreement lapsed, if the agreement terminated there was no intermediary step taken by either party to extend the closing date the buyer is entitled to the, the refund of the deposit. And my friend, by reading that paragraph, the save and except doesn’t apply to — it applies to (a), (b) and (c). And as Your Honour rightfully pointed out the — he relies on (d) being an easement. This is not an easement. This is work deficiencies. It is my submission, Your Honour, that the agreement lapsed by — s a result of the parties not doing anything, the work not being completed and the parties not agreeing to extend, as was, as was previously — the agreement previously lapsed and had to be revised, and I believe the amendment reviving that agreement....

THE COURT:  You looking for something, counsel?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I’m looking for the — an amendment to the agreement which revives and confirms the revival of the agreement that was in October 2014, around the October....

THE COURT:  All right. Well, it’s come time for the morning break. Why don’t I give you an opportunity to look for that? In the meantime if you want to contact your office, if it’s important to you to file that most recent affidavit I am prepared to hear further submissions about when inquiries were made of counsel and what inquiries specifically were made, what you requested from them. Because if it is indeed something that you only received recently, but you diligently sought previously I’m prepared to hear your submissions on that, but I need more specific information about when requests were made of counsel. Okay. So we will take — we’ll come back at noon. 

RECESS

UPON RESUMING:
THE COURT:  All right. Let’s page again, please. 

COURTROOM REGISTRAR:  Yes, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Do you mind going and seeing if you can find him? Thank you. 

COURTROOM REGISTRAR:  Mr. Ouanounou, courtroom 5-0-7, please. Mr. Ouanounou, courtroom 5-0-7. 

COURT SERVICES OFFICER:  Your Honour, do you want me to take a run down to the [inaudible]? 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

COURT SERVICES OFFICER:  Law library. Pardon me. 

THE COURT:  Thanks. 

COURT SERVICES OFFICER:  He’s in the library and printing off, he says, 20 pages. 

THE COURT:  Okay. Did you run? Okay. Thank you. So he said he’ll be here shortly?

COURT SERVICES OFFICER:  Yeah. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Apologize, Your Honour. The thing I could do is have my assistant print a list of all the emails to the client who — okay. Here’s one, January 18th referring to: 

“Can you have Marilyn provide me with the letter from the City of Kitchener and/or the conservation authority regarding the change to the grading?” 

This is on January 16th of this year. 

THE COURT:  So that was a request to your client?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  My client because she wouldn’t reply to me. Only my client had to go there and get the documents, and either bring them or have her email it. 

THE COURT:  So when did your client go there?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I mean all this — every time I asked him to, to, to get me more information. So this is January, okay, again, have Kim look for that document. Kim is the assistant to Marilyn Reiter. 

“I need the letter from the Waterloo Conservation Authority regarding the grading. This is, again, the 16th of January 18th [sic].”

And I wrote to Kim:

“Can you please provide me with any and all correspondence between Marilyn and the City of Kitchener, and/or the Grand River Conservation regarding change to the grading of the property and the work that has to be done to correct it.”

And, and there’s a whole bunch of requests on that, so it’s not like at the last minute I requested. I just happen to get this, this document in an email with the documents previously provided to me already. I mean this is not the last minute, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Okay. I’ll receive the affidavit. That’s fine. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Thank you, Your Honour. 

MR. SARROS:  Your Honour....

THE COURT:  I, I, I’ve made my decision. 

MR. SARROS:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  I’ll just — I’ll, I’ll look at it. I’ll give it due consideration.

MR. OUANOUNOU:  So basically....

MR. SARROS:  I just want....

THE COURT:  If there’s something that you feel that....

MR. SARROS:  Just for the record wanted to state my objection...  

THE COURT:  Yes. Thank you. 

MR. SARROS:  ...and preserve my client’s rights. 

THE COURT:  Okay. Thank you. 

MR. SARROS:  Thank you. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Basically this is the last, last exhibit. 

THE COURT:  Okay. You can go ahead and hand that up. Thank you. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Thank you, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Thanks. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  To, to summarize, Your Honour, my friend again brought the issue of tender. He raises — he makes it an obligation upon the, the buyer to tender. The buyer was not, the buyer — was a condition that wasn’t fulfilled. The buyer didn’t have to tender. The condition has not been fulfilled therefore the, the, the — unless extended the agreement is — lapses. Where is my friend’s tender if he felt he was hurt or if the purchaser breached the agreement? Did you tender? There’s no tender. There’s no evidence of tender in your — in the, in the buyer’s, in the buyer’s record. No evidence of tender. You just brought up the issue of tender period. I submit to Your Honour that the agreement lapsed as it did previously and the, the purchaser is entitled to the deposit. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. Mr. Ouanounou, you handed up this most recent affidavit. Is there anything in particular that you would wish me to look at?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Yes, Your Honour. The Exhibit L at page 62....

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  That’s the — an amendment that was entered into November 28th, 2014 where they, they extended the closing date to January 30th. And if you read it says notwithstanding the expiry of the original agreement, agreement of purchase [inaudible] shall serve as a revival agreement — and the buyer agreed here with all the terms — the condition will — shall remain the same therein. There was — it shows that it collapsed before now they revived it in November 28th, 2014. And this is what happened at the last — On January 30th. Then you have two letters or three letters from Steven Michael (ph), which are at Exhibit M, page 65 and page 66, page 68. Three letters dated January 22nd. Two letters dated 22nd and at page — and Exhibit P at page 75, another letter from Steven Michael dated January 30th, which again doesn’t deal with a breach, doesn’t say anything about a breach. Basically again the agreement just lapsed. No extension. There was a discussion of amendment to the agreement of — abatement of the purchase price, but that’s all. Basically these are, these are the exhibits, Your Honour, are relevant. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Thank you, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Okay. Thank you. I am prepared to give an oral ruling at this time. 

MR. SARROS:  Your....

THE COURT:  I do....

MR. SARROS:  Your Honour, would I have a chance to do reply submissions or....

THE COURT:  You, you can if you wish, sure. 

MR. SARROS:  I do... 

THE COURT:  Okay. Go ahead. 

MR. SARROS:  ...if the court doesn’t mind. First of all, you know, as part of my professional obligations to my client I wouldn’t want to do anything negligent. So I object to that affidavit being filed. My friend referred to certain request emails. I believe he said the request was made in January of 2018. That’s approximately nine months prior to my client’s examination on September 26. There’s no reason that those documents could not have been obtained or produced prior to or at my client’s examination. It’s unfair to ambush my client with these new documents. We have had no opportunity to, to deliver responding affidavit material. Having said that I’d like to move on to reply submissions. With respect to the nature of the work I submit that the court ought to find on a balance of probabilities that the nature of the work was in respect of a storm sewer pipe under the public roadway, Victoria Street North and was not with respect to the property itself. You don’t have to take our word for it. It’s right there in the letter from the I.B.I. Group dated August 25th, 201, which is in the responding application record, Exhibit J of the Scholyar affidavit. I am going to simply recite part of that letter at the fourth paragraph:

 “An existing 1,200 millimetre diameter storm sewer pipe under Victoria Street North drains onto the property.”

Furthermore it says — and then it refers to: 

“A remediation design that has been prepared to provide the required level of conveyance of run off from Victoria Street North through the property to the water course to the south.”

So a plain reading of that letter should suggest that the work was done on the public roadway and did not affect the property, and even if it did affect the property it did not materially affect the property. The work, if any, did not substantially deprive the buyer of the benefit of the property. At all times my client was ready to convey substantially what was contracted for it. If there was any impediment, which we deny, but let’s say there was, it could have — it could not have significantly affected the purchaser’s use or enjoyment of the property. As solicitor Hoskinson said in his email of July 17, 2014, Exhibit L of the November 1st affidavit:

“There is no reason to delay closing for paperwork only, which is not difficult to complete and can be done regardless of who the owner is.” 

With respect to the issue of tender, Your Honour, you, you ought to focus on paragraph 21 of the agreement of purchase and sale. That paragraph deals with tender. My client was the seller. My friend’s client was the buyer. My client did tender. At all material times my client was in a position to convey substantially what was contracted for. Moreover my client provided the required documents. In the amendment, which is at tab two, Exhibit C, my client’s affidavit in the application record, it says:

“Any mortgages or liens or other encumbrances registered against the property will be discharged on or before closing at the seller’s expense either from the proceeds of sale or by solicitor’s undertaking.”

That’s a document Mr. Hoskinson provided, the undertaking. That’s in my client’s affidavit November 1st, Exhibit E. There’s an undertaking by solicitor Hoskinson to obtain and register good title and there’s an undertaking to discharge the mortgage. So in terms of tender my client did tender because he provided the documents that were called for under the agreement of purchase and sale. In reality it was the buyer who failed to tender. I do not know what my friend means when he says his client did not have to tender. Of course he did. He was the buyer. As per the tender clause, the buyer ought to have tendered money on close. The buyer could have tendered a certified cheque or a bank draft. The buyer elected not to do so. The buyer could have come to court today with innocent hands. It could’ve said, look, yeah, closing date came. You guys weren’t ready, but we were. Here’s our certified cheque. It didn’t do it. Its hands are not innocent. My client was ready to close and again, I would ask the court to, to focus on paragraph 21 of the A.P.S., which deals with tender. Regarding the issue of whether the paragraph dealing with no work orders or deficiency notices was a warranty or condition, the rules of construction suggest that paragraph ought to be treated as a warranty and not a condition, and I say that for the following reasons. If the court looks at....

THE COURT:  I don’t think you need to make submissions on that. 

MR. SARROS:  I’ve already made submissions? Okay. 

THE COURT:  You don’t need to make submissions. 

MR. SARROS:  Moving on. Regarding the letter from Grand River Conservation Authority attached to my client’s further undertaking and refusals chart of October 30th, the letter is from Grand River Conservation Authority. That’s not the Region of Waterloo of the City of Kitchener therefore the letter is irrelevant to the case. Even if it was relevant it clearly says the permit was never issued, so there was no outstanding work permit against the property. Moreover, if you read the letter it refers to, “To repair a storm water outlet at 1253 Victoria Street North in the City of Kitchener.” That could refer to the public roadway, 1253 Victoria Street North. The work, if any, could have been completed regardless of who the owner was. At all times my client was in a position to convey substantially what the agreement called for. We ask the court to find on a balance of probabilities that it was the buyer who repudiated the agreement for failing to attend. And we — and as a result we respectfully submit my client is entitled to the deposit, which we respectfully submit was forfeited. Thank you, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Do you have a draft order?

MR. SARROS:  Yes, I do, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Mind passing it up so I know what it is that you’re asking for? 

MR. SARROS:  Passing to my friend a draft judgment. 

THE COURT:  All right. I’m prepared to give oral reasons at this time. I have prepared these 

reasons within a short period of time and I reserve my right to edit them if and when a transcript is ordered. 

...REASONS FOR RULING 

THE COURT:  May I ask the court staff, are you willing to stay just a couple more minutes if we can wrap up the issue of costs? 

COURTROOM REGISTRAR:  Absolutely, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  You are fine with that? Okay. Yes. So I will briefly hear your submissions on costs. 

MR. SARROS:  Thank you for your judgment, Your Honour. I won’t speak too much....

THE COURT:  Do you have a bill of costs?

MR. SARROS:  Yes, I do.

THE COURT:  Can you hand that up, please? Mr. Ouanounou, do you have a bill of costs? 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Yes, I do, Your Honour.

THE COURT:  Would you mind giving that to Mr. Sarros and he can hand both of them up?   

MR. SARROS:  Your — this be a cost outline? 

THE COURT:  Sure. 

MR. SARROS:  I, I have a costs outline. 

THE COURT:  Would you, would you mind just waiting and getting Mr. Ouanounou’s as well? I’ll take both of them. 

COURTROOM REGISTRAR:  Thank you. 

MR. SARROS:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Yes. Go ahead. 

MR. SARROS:  Thanks, Your Honour. So the general rule is costs follow the event. Your Honour has made her judgment and ruling. My client is successful. He’s deserving of costs. We seek substantial costs in the amount of $24,289.71 inclusive of taxes and disbursements. 

THE COURT:  What would full indemnity be? Are you treating substantial as full indemnity? 

MR. SARROS:  No, 90 per cent. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. SARROS:  I believe we’re entitled to substantial costs. I did make an offer to settle to my friend. 

THE COURT:  Do you have a copy of that?

MR. SARROS:  Yes, I do. On March 14th, 2018 I faxed my friend an offer to settle. The offer to settle is as follows: The applicant, 1784773 Ontario Inc. offers to settle this application on the following basis. A) The respondent, 1698409 Ontario Ltd. shall consent to an order that $40,000.00 shall be paid out of court to the applicant, 1784773 Ontario Inc. This offer is made pursuant to the rules, is open for acceptance until one minute after the commencement of the hearing of this application”, dated March 14, 2018.

THE COURT:  Did you do better than that?

MR. SARROS:  Better? 

THE COURT:  Did you do better than that?

MR. SARROS:  I did as good as or better. 

THE COURT:  So what do the rules say about as good as?

MR. SARROS:  The, the rules definitely say that it’s as favourable or better than. 

THE COURT:  Which rule is that?

MR. SARROS:  I just got to pull up the rules of procedure. 

THE COURT:  You can go ahead and pass up the offer to settle if you like. 

MR. SARROS:  Sure. The, the, the applicable rule, Your Honour, is rule 49.

THE COURT:  49?

MR. SARROS:  49(10)(1). It says:

“Where an offer to settle, a) is made by the plaintiff at least seven days before the commencement of the hearing, b) is not withdrawn and does not expire before the commencement of the hearing and c) is not accepted by the defendant, and the plaintiff obtains a judgment as favourable as or more favourable than the terms of the offer to settle, plaintiff is entitled to partial costs up until the date the offer was served and substantial costs from that date unless the court orders otherwise.” 

THE COURT:  Right. So what costs did you incur before you sent the offer to settle?

MR. SARROS:  Well, Your Honour, it’s going to be difficult for me to break that down precisely, but what, what I can say is that I’ve — the offer is dated March 14th. Okay. Following March 14th we delivered the factum, the revised factum, the supplemental affidavit of September 27th, the supplemental affidavit of November 1st, the supplemental affidavit of November 27th, the refusals and undertakings chart, the further refusals and undertakings chart. We conducted — I prepared my client for cross-examination on the affidavit and attended that on September 27th. I would, I would say that the bulk of the work, about 80 per cent of the work was done after that time. 

THE COURT:  When did you become the lawyer on this file?

MR. SARROS:  I served the notice of change on — excuse me, Your Honour. I’m just pulling it up here. Geeze. Okay. I served, according to my draft affidavit of service on — I served the notice of change on January 15th. Okay. 

THE COURT:  Okay. What is your hourly rate?

MR. SARROS:  My hourly rate, respectfully, is 300. Your Honour, if I might say something more. My costs outline does not account for the costs incurred by Mr. Fascia’s predecessor lawyer...

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. SARROS:  ...Mr. Frank Feldman and it does — Mr. Fascia advises me he paid Mr. Feldman $24,000.00. Prior to Mr. Feldman there was, there was another litigation lawyer on record and I understand that they had prepared the application record and the, the affidavit. I do not have — my client advises he paid approximately $7,000.00 to, to those solicitors. Respectfully ask that be accounted for. 

THE COURT:  Okay. All right. Thank you. 

MR. SARROS:  Okay. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  If I may, Your Honour, my friend’s bill of costs is kind of somewhat excessive. I believe Frank Feldman was your, your first lawyer on record on this application and removed himself off the record for certain reasons. 
MR. SARROS:  That’s not true. His predecessor....

THE COURT:  It doesn’t matter. I don’t think it matters. Go ahead. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Again, my friend has been a member of the Ontario Bar how many years? 

MR. SARROS:  2015, Your Honour. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  And....

THE COURT:  You, you don’t think $300.00 an hour is a fair rate for someone...

MR. OUANOUNOU:  I’m....

THE COURT:  ...called in 2015?

MR. OUANOUNOU:  Your Honour, I’m billing $300.00 an hour on the, on the, on this file. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. OUANOUNOU:  And [inaudible] excessive. I haven’t seen any of the — my, my friend — the, the, the applicant is telling you in respect to lawyers. I have no idea who were the lawyers other than Mr. Feldman. I haven’t seen any of the disbursements incurred. If you look at my bill of costs, my costs summary it’s basic. It’s about $5,000.00 all. This is someone with — member of the bar for — of the Law Society for over 35 years and [inaudible] my time, I spend the time. But these, these are my submissions that they’re excessive. 

THE COURT:  Right. Thank you.
...REASONS FOR RULING 

COURTROOM REGISTRAR:  Thank you, Your Honour. 

THE COURT:  Need that. Counsel will want copies of this I think. 
COURTROOM REGISTRAR:  Okay. 
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